THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Maite D. Murphy, Master-In-Equity

Case No. 2012-213177

RECEIVED

AUG 02 2013

SC Court of Appeals

C. S. Carter..... Plaintiff,

vs.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN NOT SETTING ASIDE THE TAX DEED WHEN MAILING NOTICES OF THE TAX SALE PROCESS HAD NOT BEEN MADE UPON TWO OF THE GRANTEES OF RECORD?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN NOT SETTING ASIDE THE TAX DEED WHEN THE NEWSPAPER ADVERTISEMENT DID NOT CONTAIN THE GRANTEES OF RECORD BUT ONLY THE DEFAULTING TAXPAYER?
3. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING THAT THE GRANTEES CONTAINED IN THE PROBATED ESTATE WAS NOT ENTITLED TO RECEIVE NOTICES OF THE TAX SALE PROCESS?
4. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN NOT GRANTING THIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION AS WELL AS MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL OR TO ALTER OR TO AMEND JUDGMENT WHEN IT WAS SHOWN THE TAXING AUTHORITY FAILED TO INCLUDE ALL GRANTEES IN THE TAX SALE PROCESS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 22, 2010, Plaintiff C.S. Carter brought this action seeking to confirm a tax deed issued to him dated March 16, 2009, and recorded March 24, 2009, in Deed Book 6995, at Page 46, in the Office of the Dorchester County Register of Deeds, pursuant to a sale of the subject property to him by tax deed on November 5, 2007. The Third-Party Plaintiffs, Michael C. Brown, Sr., Rena Brown, Eric Brown, Lisa Brown, Michael Brown, and Karen Brown, answered denying the allegations and asserted a third-party complaint against Third-Party Defendant/Respondent Dorchester County seeking to void the deed and other relief upon grounds that Dorchester County had failed to comply with certain requirements of law leading to the tax sale. The Third-Party Plaintiffs also contended that their counterclaim to set aside the tax deed was not barred by operation of the two-year statute of limitations set forth in S.C. Code Ann. Section 12-51-160 (2000) because Dorchester County had failed to strictly comply with the statutory notices and newspaper advertisements requirements leading to the tax sale.

The Third-Party Plaintiffs claimed Third-Party Defendant/Respondent Dorchester County had failed to mail required notices for tax deed sale to certain grantees of record, had failed to include the names of grantees of record in the newspaper advertisement notices and that such failures of Dorchester County to comply with the tax sale laws were fundamental and jurisdictional defects, not mere irregularities, that should not cut off the Third-Party Plaintiffs' right to redeem the property sold in the tax sale.

The Plaintiff, in response to the responsive pleadings, replied and counterclaimed against the Defendant/Third-Party Plaintiffs for quantum meruit/unjust enrichment, and in the alternative, sued the Third-Party Defendant, Dorchester County, in the event the Court

granted the Defendant/Third-Party Plaintiffs any relief. The Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs filed a Reply to the Counterclaim. The Third-Party Defendant, Dorchester County, answered denying the material allegations of the Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs.

The Defendants/Third-Party Plaintiffs subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment dated April 20, 2011, which was denied by the Court by Order Denying Third-Party Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment dated October 31, 2011. Both parties filed memorandums of law in support of their positions. The case was heard on March 12, 2012, and resulted in an Order Confirming Tax Deed dated April 17, 2012, filed on May 4, 2012, and served May 8, 2012. A motion for a new trial or to amend or to alter judgment dated May 16, 2012, was denied by Order Denying Motion for a New Trial or to Alter or to Amend Judgment dated and filed on September 4, 2012, was served by mail on September 5, 2012. The Notice of Appeal followed on October 2, 2012.

FACTS

The real property which is the subject of this action was sold at a tax sale to C. S. Carter on November 5, 2007, for \$1,700.00 (R. p. 124, lines 13-22) for property valued at \$61,200.00 and as much as \$66,500.00 (R. pp. 115-116). The deed is dated March 16, 2009, and recorded March 24, 2009, in Deed Book 6995, at Page 46, in the Office of the Dorchester County Register of Deeds (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1, R. pp. 152-156).

This property previously had been conveyed to Ernest Brown, father and grandfather of the Third-Party Plaintiffs, by deed of Orie W. Lynch dated August 12, 1963, and recorded August 13, 1963, in Deed Book 132, at Page 502, in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Dorchester County (Defendants' Exhibit No. 1, R. pp. 157-158).

Ernest Brown died intestate on December 1, 1976, still owning the subject property, as contained in the probate administration of his estate. (Defendants' Exhibit No. 2, R. pp. 159-163, Estate of Ernest Brown for Petition for Letters of Administration and Order for Citation to Issue filed in 1987.)

Following the death of Ernest Brown in 1976, in 1980, certain persons, named as some of his heirs-at-law consisting of his wife, Dorothy Brown, and children, D. J. Brown, Ernest Brown, Jr., Clara Brown Moses, Mable Brown Moses, and Etholia Brown by an interest "Whereas" deed dated April 16, 1980, and recorded April 21, 1980, in Deed Book 409, at Page 18, in the Office of the Clerk of Court for Dorchester County, conveyed all of their "right, title, interest, and inheritance, to the subject property to Michael C. Brown, Sr., also a child of Ernest Brown. (Interest deed, Defendants' Exhibit No. 5, R. pp. 166-170.)

The same interest deed into Michael C. Brown, Sr. showed Enoch Wesley Brown, Jr., Michael Brown, Karen Brown, and Lisa Brown, as FOUR named grandchildren of Ernest Brown, as also being his heirs-at-law. However, they did not by this deed or a later deed convey their interest to Michael C. Brown, Sr. or anyone, so they retained their interest in and to the subject property.

Following the death of Ernest Brown in 1976, and the interest deed in 1980, the probate administration of the estate of Ernest Brown was filed in 1987 in the Probate Court for Dorchester County. (Defendants' Exhibit No. 2, Petition for Letters of Administration, R. pp. 159-163; and Defendants' Exhibit No. 3, Devise/Descent of Real Estate and Description of Real Estate, R. pp. 164-165.) This probate administration revealed the heirs-at-law surviving Ernest Brown to be his wife and the same six children as named in the

interest deed but FIVE named grandchildren, instead of four as stated in the interest deed in 1980, with two of them, Eric Brown and Rena Brown, not being included in the interest deed. Enoch Wesley Brown, Jr., who was named as a grandchild heir-at-law in the interest deed, was not named in the probate administration. The two grandchildren named in the probate administration and not in the interest deed, Eric Brown and Rena Brown, were not provided any of the statutory requirements leading up to the tax sale of the subject property.

All of the named grandchildren of Ernest Brown in the interest deed, including Enoch Wesley Brown, Jr. who was included in the interest deed, were included in the tax sale process. However, not all of the five grandchildren named in the probate administration were included in the tax sale process. (Interest deed as Defendants' Exhibit No. 5, R. pp. 166-170; and the probate administration petition for appointment as Defendants' Exhibit No. 2, R. pp. 159-63; and the Devise/Descent of Real Estate and Description of the Estate of Ernest Brown, Defendants' Exhibit No. 3, R. pp. 164-165).

The grandchildren of Ernest Brown, according to the interest deed in 1980, (Interest deed, Defendants' Exhibit No. 5, R. pp. 166-170), included in the tax sale process were:

1. Enoch Wesley Brown, Jr.
2. Michael Brown
3. Lisa Brown
4. Karen Brown

The grandchildren included in the probate administration in 1987 are listed below. Only Lisa Brown, Michael Brown and Karen Brown were included in the tax sale process in 2007.

1. Lisa Brown
2. Michael Brown

3. Karen Brown
4. Eric Brown (not included in interest deed or tax sale process)
5. Rena Brown (not included in interest deed or tax sale process)

The tax deed, Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1 (Tax deed, R. pp. 152-156) cited Michael C. Brown, Sr., et al., and the exact four named grandchildren contained in the interest deed, Defendants' Exhibit No. 5 (R. pp. 166-170), as the ones to whom statutory notices had been mailed. The names of Eric Brown and Rena Brown, grandchildren, who were named in the probate administration, were not included in the tax deed issued to the Plaintiff C.S. Carter as having been mailed the notices. (Certified mail notices, Defendants' Exhibit Nos. 6-10, R. pp. 178-197) Furthermore the delinquent tax collector testified that no notices were sent to grantees Eric Brown and Rena Brown. (R. p. 97, lines 12-15)

The probate administration showed the FIVE grandchildren of the estate instead of the four in the interest deed to be Eric Brown, Michael Brown, Karen Brown, Rena Brown and Lisa Brown, children of Enoch Brown, a predeceased child of Ernest Brown. The name of Enoch Wesley Brown, Jr. was not included in the probate administration. The five grandchildren as contained in the probate administration did not convey their interests in and to the subject property. Therefore, Michael C. Brown, Sr. was only conveyed a part interest and not a fee simple interest in the subject property, according to both the interest deed and the probate administration, and that interest was only that of his mother, Dorothy Brown, and siblings, D. J. Brown, Ernest Brown, Jr., Clara Brown Moses, Mable Brown Moses, and Etholia Brown. He did not acquire the interests of the grandchildren of Ernest Brown, Eric Brown, Michael Brown, Karen Brown, Rena Brown and Lisa Brown. Therefore, the said grandchildren and Michael C. Brown, Sr. owned the property jointly, Michael C. Brown, Sr.

as taxpayer and Eric Brown, Michael Brown, Karen Brown, Rena Brown and Lisa Brown, as grantees of record.

Due to nonpayment of taxes, the subject property was sold at a tax sale and resulted in the present litigation. Plaintiff C.S. Carter brought this action seeking to confirm the tax deed issued to him and the grantees of record seeking to have the deed set aside claiming that because Dorchester County failed to strictly comply with the statutory requirements for the sale their counterclaim was not barred by operation of the two-year statute of limitations. The tax deed was confirmed and this appeal resulted.

ARGUMENTS

This action to set aside a tax deed is one in equity, according to cases such as Godfrey v. Webb, 277 S.C. 246, 285 S.E.2d 883 (1982). Also, an action to quiet title is equitable in nature, Bryan v. Freeman, 253 S.C. 50, 168 S.E.2d 793 (1969). Therefore, this Court may find facts according to its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976).

Furthermore, the South Carolina Supreme Court has "consistently held the enforcing agencies of government to strict compliance with all the legal requirements surrounding tax sales. Dibble v. Bryant, 274 S.C. 481, 483, 265 S.E.2d 673, 675 (1980). If the governmental agency charged with collecting delinquent ad valorem taxes fails to strictly comply with the statutory requirements of a tax sale, the sale is invalid. Manji v. Blackwell, 323 S.C. 91, 473 S.E.2d 837 (Ct. App. 1996). It is the contention of the Applicant that Dorchester County failed to comply with the strict requirements of the applicable statutes and the deed must be set aside.

In this case, there is an issue regarding the running of the two-year statute of limitation which would cut off the right of the Third-Party Plaintiffs to seek to have the deed set aside pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. Section 12-51-160 (2000), as amended. The property was sold at a tax sale on November 5, 2007 (Plaintiff's Exhibit No. 1, Tax deed, R. pp. 152-156) The Third-Party Complaint was filed on August 18, 2010. (R. pp. 32-42), and this is clearly outside of the two-year statute of limitations. However, it is the contention of the Third-Party Plaintiffs that Dorchester County failed to comply with the strict requirements of the applicable statutes and such failures prevented the statute of limitations from beginning to run. See King v. James, 388 S.C. 16, 694 S.E.2d 35 (S.C. App. 2010), which held that a resulting tax sale had to be set aside because the County failed to strictly comply with the notice requirements leading up to the tax sale even though the two-year statute of limitation had run.

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT SETTING ASIDE THE TAX DEED WHEN MAILING NOTICES OF THE TAX SALE PROCESS HAD NOT BEEN MADE UPON TWO OF THE GRANTEEES OF RECORD.

It is the statutory and case law of this State that notices be sent to the defaulting taxpayer and any grantee of record. See S.C. Code Ann. Section 12-51-40 (2000) and S.C. Code Ann. Section 12-51-120 (2000), which provide for the required notices to the defaulting taxpayer and grantees of record.

It is undisputed that the names of Eric Brown and Rena Brown, two of the five grantees of the record of the probate administration, were not part of the statutory mail notices included in the tax sale process. No notices were mailed to them. See Defendants'

Exhibits Nos. 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10 (R. pp. 178-197) showing only the taxpayer and grantees of record as contained in the interest deed and the probate administration receiving the proper notices to be Lisa Brown, Michael Brown, and Karen Brown. Moreover, it was the testimony of the delinquent tax collector, R. p. 94, lines 7-25-p.97, that the only names sent the statutory mail notices, were Michael C. Brown, Sr., et al., and the four grandchildren contained on the interest deed: Enoch Wesley Brown, Jr., Michael Brown, Lisa Brown and Karen Brown. The notices did not include Eric Brown and Rena Brown, who were also grantees of record in the probate administration.

In this case, the delinquent tax collector testified that notices were only sent to Michael C. Brown, Sr., et al., Enoch Wesley Brown, Jr., Lisa Brown, Karen Brown and Michael Brown, and not to Eric Brown and Karen Brown. Also, see Defendants' Exhibit Nos. 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10, R. pp. 178-197, which show that only Michael C. Brown, Sr., et al., Enoch Wesley Brown, Jr., Lisa Brown, Rene Brown and Michael Brown were sent the notices.

Based upon the failure of Dorchester County to comply with the mailing notice requirement for the defaulting taxpayer and grantees of record, the trial judge should have set the deed aside on this ground alone.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT SETTING ASIDE THE TAX DEED WHEN THE NEWSPAPER ADVERTISEMENT DID NOT CONTAIN THE GRANTEEES OF RECORD.

It is undisputed that the newspaper publication notices listed only the name of "Michael C. Brown, Sr., et al." and not the names of Rena Brown, Eric Brown, Lisa Brown,

Michael Brown, and Karen Brown, who were devisees/grantees of the subject property as contained in the probate administration of Ernest Brown. Such designation as the name (in this case "Michael C. Brown, Sr.) plus "et al." is not covered in statutory requirements or case law of this State. See S.C. Code Ann. Section 12-51-40 (2000), generally, which provides the required notices for the taxpayer and grantees of record.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE GRANTEEES CONTAINED IN THE PROBATE COURT RECORDS WERE NOT ENTITLED TO RECEIVE NOTICE OF THE TAX SALE PROCESS.

The provisions of S.C. Code Ann. Section 12-51-40 (f) (2000) also, provide, in part, "For the purpose of enforcing payment and collection of property taxes when the true owner is unknown because of the death of the owner of record and the absence of probate administration of the decedent's estate, the property must be advertised and sold in the name of the deceased owner of record." In this case, there was a probate administration of record which provided the names of the grantees who should have been included in the tax sale process. In this case, there is an administration of the estate and no requirement to unravel a complicated estate for the heirs-at-law of the one estate as discussed in Koth v. Pallachucola Club, 79 S.C. 517, 61 S.E.2d 78 (1908). Grantees acquiring an interest in real property by intestacy and properly probated estates are entitled to all steps and proper notice in the tax sale process. However, only the name of the defaulting taxpayer was included in the newspaper publication notices as shown by clippings from the two newspapers used in this matter, The Eagle Record and The Summerville Journal, Defendants' Exhibits Nos. 11 and 12, R. pp. 198-203, testimony of the delinquent tax collector, R. pp. 90, lines 10-25-p.-

93, lines 1-6. The trial court in its Order Confirming Tax Deed concluded, "The Probate Court records admitted into evidence are not vesting documents which would make any person listed on those documents grantees of record entitled to receive notice of the tax sale process, R. p. 10, paragraph 5, Order Confirming Tax Deed, R. pp. 3-14.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING THIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFFS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS WELL AS MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL OR TO ALTER OR TO AMEND JUDGMENT WHEN IT WAS SHOWN THE TAXING AUTHORITY FAILED STRICTLY TO COMPLY WITH THE TAX SALE PROCESS.

It is undisputed that the names of Eric Brown and Rena Brown, two of the five grantees in the probate administration record, were not part of the statutory mail notices included in the tax sale process. No notices were mailed to them. See certified notices, Defendants' Exhibit Nos. 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10 (R. pp. 178-197); and testimony of the delinquent tax collector (R. p. 94, lines 7-25-p. 97) showing that only the taxpayer and grantees of record receiving the proper notices, included Michael C. Brown, Sr., Enoch Wesley Brown, Jr., (who was not included in the probate administration), Michael Brown, Lisa Brown and Karen Brown. Moreover, it was the testimony of the delinquent tax collector (R. p. 94, lines 7-25-p. 97) that the only names sent the statutory mail notices, were Michael C. Brown, Sr., and the four grandchildren contained on the interest deed: Enoch Wesley Brown, Jr., Michael Brown, Lisa Brown and Karen Brown. The notices did not include Eric Brown and Rena Brown, who were also grantees of record in the probate administration. No notices were mailed to them. See Defendants' Exhibits Nos. 6, 7, 8, 9, and 10 (R. pp. 178-197), showing only the taxpayer and grantees of record as contained in

10 (R. pp. 178-197), showing only the taxpayer and grantees of record as contained in the interest deed and the probate administration receiving the proper notices to be Lisa Brown, Michael Brown, and Karen Brown. The provisions of S.C. Code Ann. Section 12-51-40 (f) (2000) also provide, in part, “ For the purpose of enforcing payment and collection of property taxes when the true owner is unknown because of the death of the owner of record and the absence of probate administration of the decedent's estate, the property must be advertised and sold in the name of the deceased owner of record.”

It is also provided in S.C. Code Ann. Section 12-51-120 (2000) that notice be sent to the defaulting taxpayer and grantees of record the notice of approaching end of redemption period.

No notices whatsoever were sent to Eric Brown and Rena Brown, who were two of the grantees of record as contained in the probate administration of Ernest Brown. The summary judgment motion (R. pp. 56-59) and the motion for new trial or to alter or to amend judgment (R. pp. 70-75) should have been granted upon the evidence and proof to this effect presented to the trial court. See Manji herein wherein the trial court granted the summary judgment declaring the tax deed null and void because the tax collector conceded that the appropriate notice was not sent as statutorily required. In this case, the evidence showed that none of the notices were sent to two of the grantees of record. The delinquent tax collector testified also that Eric Brown and Rena Brown were not mailed any statutorily required notices nor were any of the names of the grantees of record contained in the newspaper tax sale notices. For the reasons herein, the trial court should have granted to summary judgment motion and the later motion for a new trial or to alter or to amend

judgment.

CONCLUSION