THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Maite D. Murphy, Master-In-Equity

Case No. 2012-213177

C.S. Carter.....Plaintiff,

v.

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

### **ARGUMENT**

An action to set aside a tax deed, or to quiet title to property is one in equity. See *King v. James*, 388 S.C. 16, 24, 694 S.E.2d 35, 39 (Ct. App. 2010) and *Van Every v. Chinquapin Hollow, Inc.*, 265 S.C. 474, 477, 219 S.E.2d 909, 910 (1975). When such an action is tried by a judge alone, without a reference, the appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Townes Associates*, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). However, the appellate court is not required to disregard the trial court's findings or ignore the fact that the trial judge is in the better position to assess the credibility of witnesses. See *Dorchester County Dep't of Social Servs. v. Miller*, 324 S.C. 445, 451, 477 S.E.2d 476, 480 (Ct. App. 1996). Further, the Appellants still bear the burden of convincing this Court that the trial judge committed error in her findings. *Id.*

**I. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM WHEN IT IS UNDISPUTED AND UN-APPEALED FROM THAT MICHAEL C. BROWN, SR. WAS THE DEFAULTING TAXPAYER AND A GRANTEE OF RECORD AND THAT HE RECEIVED THE REQUIRED NOTICES OF THE TAX SALE.**

In this case, this Court should affirm the lower court's ruling, as the trial court correctly found that the statutorily required notices had been received by Michael C. Brown, Sr. – the "defaulting taxpayer" and "grantee of record". S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-40 (1976) provides, in part, that the "defaulting taxpayer" and "grantee of record" are entitled to various notices of the tax sale process. In this case, it is undisputed that Michael C. Brown, Sr. was the "defaulting taxpayer" and a "grantee of record". (R. p. 84, line 22 – p. 86, line 21). Further, it is undisputed that he received all of the proper notices. Under questioning by his own attorney, Mr. Brown testified as follows:

BY MR. COMER

Q: Mr. Brown, you stated earlier your address was –

A: 758 St. Paul Road, Dorchester, South Carolina 29437.

Q: Okay. You recall receiving notices from the Delinquent Tax Office about non-payment of taxes; you do recall that don't you?

A: Yes.

Q: Do you recall receiving information from the Delinquent Tax Office about the property going up for sale?

A: No, I didn't receive that.

Q: It was delivered to your address, though, wasn't it – as far as you know?

A: As far as I know.

Q: Okay. And all the other notices were delivered to your address, far as you know?

A: Far as I know.

(R. p. 132, line 19 – R. p. 133, line 8).

Thus, Michael C. Brown, Sr. admitted under questioning by his own attorney that he received the proper notices. Further, the Appellants are not arguing in this appeal that Michael C. Brown, Sr. was not the "defaulting taxpayer" and a "grantee of record" or that he did not receive the required notices. An appellate court should affirm a ruling by the trial court if the offended party does not challenge that ruling. See *Bailes v. Young*, 315 S.C. 166, 168, 432 S.E.2d 482, 484 (1993). Accordingly, this Court should affirm the finding of the trial court that Michael C. Brown, Sr., was the "defaulting taxpayer" and a "grantee of record", and that he was properly notified of the tax sale process. (R. p. 8, paragraph 3 – p. 9, paragraphs 4 and 5).

**II. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM WHEN THE APPELLANTS, OTHER THAN MICHAEL C. BROWN, SR., WERE NOT "GRANTEES" OF RECORD, AND EVEN IF THEY COULD BE CONSTRUED AS "GRANTEES", THEIR PURPORTED GRANT WAS NOT "OF RECORD".**

Instead, the Appellants argue that the tax deed should still be set aside because the other Appellants, besides Michael C. Brown, Sr., were also "grantees of record", entitled to the various required notices. They base their claim of being "grantees of record" on their names being listed on a Devise and Descent Form in Ernest Brown's probate file. However, as the trial court correctly found a Devise and Descent Form does not make any of the listed individuals "grantees" of record, as a Devise and Descent Form is not a "grant" of anything. (R. p. 10, paragraph 5). In 1976, the year of

the death of Ernest Brown, and in February of 1987, when his estate was opened, title to real property vested immediately upon the death of an intestate in the heirs of the intestate. See *Carter v. Wroten*, 187 S.C. 432, 198 S.E. 13 (1938) and *Muldrow v. Caldwell*, 173 S.C. 243, 175 S.E. 501 (1934). Accordingly, immediately upon the death of Ernest Brown, his heirs, whomever they may be, became the owners of the Property as a matter of law -- not because of any supposed "grant" from a Devise and Descent Form. Thus, a Devise and Descent Form is not a "grant" of any real property, and any names listed on it are not "grantees" of record. Therefore, Dorchester County had no duty to provide any notice to the individuals listed on the Devise and Descent Form.

Further, even if the listing of these names on the Devise and Decent Form somehow made these individuals "grantees," the document was not "of record" as required by the then applicable statute. In February of 1987, when the estate of Ernest Brown was opened, S.C. Code § 60-158 (1962) allowed a Devise and Descent Form to be filed with the Register of Deeds Office, but only if "in the judgment of the probate judge" the heirs at law were "definite and certain." This statute provided in part:

**§ 60-158. Indexing of passage of title by will or inheritance.** – Whenever any will, properly proven, shall be filed in the office of any probate court of any county of this State or any estate be properly filed for administration under the supervision of any probate court of this state and such will shall devise real property to a named individual, or in any case under the administration of the probate court when the heirs at law ***are in the judgment of the probate judge, definite and certain***, the probate judge before discharging the administration of the estate or the administrator c. t. a. of the estate or the executor or executrix under the will or under court order, shall tender to the clerk of court or office of register of mesne conveyances in counties having such office, in writing, a statement showing the name of the deceased owner as grantor and the name of the devisee, heir at law or heirs at law as grantee or grantees and the clerk or register shall index them ***as if the transfer of property had been made by deed.***

(emphasis added).

In this case, there is no record in the Register of Deeds Office indicating that any of these supposed heirs of Ernest Brown are "grantees" of the Property. If this had happened, the Register of Deeds would have been required to index the names of these "definite and certain" heirs "as if the transfer of property had been made by deed." In that case, the County would have been provided with additional "definite and certain" grantees of record that it could have notified of the tax sale process.

However, it is not surprising that the Devise and Descent Form was not filed in the Register of Deeds Office, as the determination of the heirs of Ernest Brown was anything but "definite and certain." The comparison chart provided in the Statement of Facts clearly shows the inconsistencies between the information listed in the 1980 deeds and the 1987 Devise and Descent Form. Equally illuminating is the testimony of Michael C. Brown, Sr., one of the Appellants, and a son of Ernest Brown. He testified that he did not even know "Enoch Wesley Brown, Jr.", one of the purported sole heirs listed on the 1980 deeds. (R. p. 138, line 13 – p. 139, line 23). Further, Clara Brown Moses, the sister of Michael C. Brown, Sr., who was both one of the grantors on the 1980 deeds and who also served as the Personal Representative, testified that the listing of the sole heirs on the 1980 deeds was an error. (R. p. 142, lines 15-25). Even with Clara Brown Moses attempting to help her brother testify, the confusion as to the heirs of Ernest Brown continued at trial. (R. p. 134, lines 11-20; p. 138, line 13 – p. 139, line 2). Thus, the lack of a filing of the Devise and Descent Form back in 1987, which required a determination by the Probate Court of "definite and certain," is certainly understandable. However, this lack of filing also prevented any purported transfer

caused by the Devise and Descent Form from being viewed as if it "had been made by deed." Accordingly, even if the Devise and Descent Form somehow made the listed individuals grantees, they were not grantees "of record."

This case demonstrates the wisdom of the statute in requiring notification to the "defaulting taxpayer" and a "grantee of record", but not notification to all who may claim to have an ownership interest. In 2007, Dorchester County was faced with a situation in which the taxes for the property in this case had undisputedly not been paid for the prior three years. (R. p. 81, line 19 – p. 82, line 15). Going back to 1988, or for close to twenty years, the tax bills for the Property had been addressed to Michael C. Brown, Sr., and since 1993 had been sent to 758 St. Paul Road, Dorchester, South Carolina 29437. (R. p. 86, lines 14-21; R. p. 85, lines 5-8; R. p. 132, lines 19-20). No other address was ever provided to the County to send the tax bills or other notices. (R. p. 84, line 22 – p. 85, line 4). The last deed in the chain of title for the Property recorded at the Register of Deeds Office was from 1980, twenty-seven years earlier, and clearly showed that Michael C. Brown, Sr. was a "grantee of record". (R. pp. 166-170). This same 1980 deed referenced the purported heirs of Ernest Brown, who died in 1976. However, there was also a Devise and Descent Form from seven years later in 1987, but not recorded in the Register of Deeds Office, that provided a different list of purported heirs, even though one of the grantors on the 1980 deed was Clara Brown Moses, who was also the Personal Representative of the Estate of Ernest Brown. Clearly, the County was faced with the unanswered question as to who were the heirs of Ernest Brown.

Importantly however, the County is not required to determine the heirs of anyone in order to sell a property at a tax sale. While the facts in the case of *Koth v. Pallachucola Club*, 79 S.C. 514, 61 S.E. 77 (1908) are different than this case, the underlying principle that guided the South Carolina Supreme Court in *Koth* should guide the outcome of this case as well. In *Koth*, the Court was faced with the issue of whether a tax deed was valid when the property was sold as belonging to the heirs of a deceased delinquent taxpayer when her estate had not been administered, as opposed to individually naming the heirs of the deceased. The Court found the tax deed valid and stated:

It would be unreasonable to require tax officers to unravel complicated inheritances and state on the tax list the Christian and family names of all the heirs of persons deceased. To construe the provisions of the statute on the subject mandatory to that degree would unreasonably embarrass the state in the collection of its revenue.

79 S.C. at 517-518; 61 S.E. at 78.

As in *Koth*, the family history of Ernest Brown was very much in need of unraveling. In this case, the estate of Ernest Brown had been administered in 1987, eleven years after his death, but there was no judicial determination of his heirs. Further, the listing of the heirs on the Devise and Descent Form differed from the "Whereas" clause from the 1980 deeds, executed just four years after his death, even though the one of the grantors on those deeds also served as the Personal Representative. In addition, the Devise and Descent Form was not recorded in the Register of Deeds Office, indicating the Probate Court did not believe the heirs of Ernest Brown were "definite and certain." Contrary to Appellants' argument, even though the Estate of Ernest Brown was administered, the County was faced with much uncertainty

as to the identity of his heirs. Appellants argue the County should be forced to send notices to every possible heir of Ernest Brown. To do so, would require the County to file a Quiet Title action or a Petition to Determine Heirs so that it would know whether the heirs are as listed on the 1980 deeds, the 1987 Devise and Descent Form, or if there were other individuals not listed on either. Such a process would simply be unworkable as the expenses to determine ownership would far outweigh the return of unpaid taxes.

Instead, the statute requires the County to notify the "defaulting taxpayer" and a "grantee of record", which is what the County did. Again, it is undisputed and un-appealed from that Michael C. Brown, Sr. was the "defaulting taxpayer" and a "grantee of record" and that he received the required notices. The County is not required to do anything further. It is not the job of the Delinquent Tax Collector, who is not an attorney, to determine the heirs of an individual, or to conduct genealogy research, or to determine the "owners" of property, or to be an expert in the fields of probate and real estate law. (R. p. 102, lines 3-14; R. p. 105, lines 13-16; R. p. 107, lines 21 – p. 108, line 21). The County is required to comply with the statutes, which as the trial court correctly found, it did. The Appellants are quick to point out case law which requires "strict compliance" by the County with the tax sale statutes. However, "strict compliance" does not require the County to perform tasks over and above those listed in the statute before it can recoup three years of back taxes that are undisputedly owed.

In summation, it is undisputed and un-appealed from, that Michael C. Brown, Sr. was the "defaulting taxpayer" and a "grantee of record" and that he received the statutorily required notices. Further, the remaining Appellants were not "grantees of

record" entitled to any notices, as the listing of their names on a Devise and Descent Form is not a "grant" of anything. Even if a Devise and Descent Form is construed as a "grant", this Devise and Descent Form was not "of record" because it was never recorded in the Register of Deeds Office. Accordingly, the trial court was correct in confirming the tax deed into Mr. Carter, and this Court should affirm.

**III. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM AS IT IS UNDISPUTED THE THIRD PARTY COMPLAINT WAS NOT SERVED UNTIL WELL AFTER THE TWO YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS HAD EXPIRED.**

In addition, the trial court should be affirmed as the statute of limitations barred the Third Party Complaint. Rule 220(c), SCACR provides that this Court may affirm the trial court upon any grounds appearing in the record. S.C. Code Ann. § 12-51-160 (1976) states:

**§ 12-51-160. Deed as evidence of good title; statute of limitations. –** In all cases of tax sale the deed of conveyance, whether executed to a private person, a corporation or a forfeited land commission, is prima facie evidence of a good title in the holder, that all proceedings have been regular and that all legal requirements been complied with. An action for the recovery of land sold pursuant to this chapter or for the recovery of the possession must not be maintained unless brought within two years from the date of sale as provided in Section 12-51-90(c).

In this case, both Mr. Carter and the County pled the applicable statute of limitations and argued it to the trial court. (R. p. 150, lines 6-13). Further, it is undisputed the County sold the Property to Mr. Carter at a tax sale on November 5, 2007, and the Third Party Complaint was not served until August 17, 2010 – clearly outside the two year period. Thus, even though the trial court did not base her ruling on the statute of limitations, this Court should affirm based on the authority granted by Rule 220(c),

SCACR.

Appellants assert the statute of limitations is not applicable because they allege that the County failed to strictly comply with the tax sale statutes, citing *King v. James*, 388 S.C. 16, 694 S.E.2d 35 (Ct. App. 2010). (Appellant's Brief, p. 8). However, the courts of this State have not held that every irregularity in the tax sale process prevents the operation of the statute of limitations. In fact, in *Leysath v. Leysath*, 209 S.C. 342, 40 S.E.2d 233 (1946), the South Carolina Supreme Court stated "We do not undertake to lay down a general rule defining those defects in tax proceedings which should be considered as mere irregularities, to which the statute [of limitations] would apply, and those which should be deemed jurisdictional, so as to render the statute [of limitations] inapplicable." *Id.* at 351, 40 S.E.2d at 237 (quoted in *Reeping v. JEBBCO, LLC*, Op. No. 032013 (Ct. App. dated March 13, 2012)). Thus, every deviation from the tax sale statutes does not automatically eradicate the statute of limitations.

In this case, it is undisputed and un-appealed from, that Michael C. Brown, Sr. was the "defaulting taxpayer" and a "grantee of record". Further, it is undisputed and un-appealed from, that he received the proper notices regarding the tax sale of the Property. Finally, it is undisputed and un-appealed from, that the tax sale for the Property occurred on November 5, 2007, more than two years prior to the service of the Third-Party Complaint. Thus, it is clear that the statute of limitations bars any claim by Michael C. Brown, Sr. Moreover, as described above, the determination of the heirs of Ernest Brown was unclear. The confusion as to the complete identity of those heirs, which clearly was not caused by Mr. Carter or the County, should not be allowed to defeat the application of the statute of limitations. The County complied with the tax